# Soileos Bio-Active Crop Nutrition

How Soileos increases yield through activation of the microbiome





Grow Smarter with Soileos

## Science Driven. Field Proven. Bio-Activated.

Increase microbial biomass with Soileos bio-available micronutrients

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	4
Soil Microbiomes	6
Soil Organic Carbon	6
Micronutrient Absorption in Plants	7
How Sulphate and EDTA Based Fertilizers Work	7
The Soileos Solution	8
Soileos Mode of Action	9
The Benefits of Soileos	10
Summary	12
References	13

### **Executive Summary**

#### Lucent Bio has solved the micronutrient delivery problem.

Soileos is a soil-applied, smart crop nutrition delivery system. It enhances yields, crop resilience, and soil health with on-time nutrient delivery and sustained bioavailability, allowing the crop to maximize it's genetic potential. Lucent Bio's patented technology upcycles cellulose derived from crop processing residues such as lentil, pea, or rice husks into a sustainable delivery agent for nutrients. Soileos is a dry granular product of a similar size and weight to conventional dry granular products. Unlike conventional products, Soileos' organic substrate means soil organic carbon levels are enhanced through its use. The net result is higher crop yields, improved nutrient density, and healthier soils with higher carbon.

This whitepaper contains the results of research on Soileos by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada to declare the mode of action and the interaction with the soil microbiome with a focus on microbial activity.

It was found that Soileos triggers an increase in microbial biomass due to the biologically available source of carbon—cellulose—a core component of Soileos. Nutrients are delivered from Soileos to the crop using the symbiotic relationships between soil microbes and plants. The microbial community consumes the bioavailable carbon and begins to cycle, releasing the micronutrients back into the ecosystem in a bioavailable form ready for crop uptake. Research has also demonstrated that soil treated with Soileos results in minimal leaching, even at high application, proving that Soileos is environmentally safe.

Soileos provides a climate-smart solution for nutrient management in modern farming practices.



Soileos provides a climate-smart solution for nutrient management in modern farming practices.





Watch our

Mode of Action

Explainer video

4D



### Introduction

Lucent Bio delivers crop nutrition that improves yields and soil health while sequestering carbon. We have developed novel climate-positive crop nutrition products to help farmers boost their short-term profitability and facilitate long-term stewardship of farmland and natural resources. Backed by years of research and development, Lucent Bio is proud to provide industry-leading solutions for climatesmart agriculture. We use a state-of- the-art cellulose-based technology as a natural replacement for conventional micronutrient products such as oxysulphates or synthetic chelates like EDTA. Our proprietary technology provides crops with bioavailable nutrients resulting in higher yields, and improved soil health for the ultimate return.

Increasing awareness of soil as an essential ecosystem is a fundamental shift in how we think about soil and in turn how we care for it. It is widely acknowledged that soil biomes are highly important for nutrient and carbon cycling.<sup>1</sup> There has been an urgent call to study the intercommunication between plants and microbes; specifically, identifying functional roles and interspecies interactions.<sup>2</sup> Recent scientific understanding of the extent to which soil biota and plants cofunction and the potential for nature-based microbiome priming to replace synthetic agricultural inputs have only started to be uncovered.<sup>3</sup> Some researchers call this void of information the "final frontier of ecology."<sup>4</sup>

Soil microbiomes enhance plant growth through three processes: (1) hormone manipulations <sup>5</sup>, (2) outcompeting and surviving pathogenic microbes <sup>6</sup> <sup>7</sup>, and (3) increasing the bioavailability of nutrients in soil microbiomes.<sup>8</sup> <sup>9</sup> This paper will focus on the third aspect and will explain how Soileos increases bioavailable nutrients in the soil microbiome. Topics covered will include soil microbiome, soil organic carbon, micronutrient absorption in plants, the limitations of oxy-sulphates and EDTA-based fertilizers, and the Soileos solution.



Micronutrient deficient soils are a global problem that directly impacts human health. Malnutrition due to the consumption of crops with low dietary value has ignited the pursuit of more sustainable solutions. According to the World Health Organization, more than two billion people around the world are at risk of zinc deficiency disorder.<sup>10</sup> <sup>11</sup> Zinc deficiency is particularly acute in developing countries where populations rely mostly on cereals for staple food and have little access to meat.<sup>12</sup> In Canada and the USA, 10-12% of the population consumes inadequate amounts of zinc.<sup>13</sup>

Climate change is both, directly and indirectly, affecting interactions between the soil microbiome and plants by altering community structure, function, and prosperity.<sup>14 15 16</sup> Agricultural soils rely heavily on healthy microbiomes to achieve high productivity and crop quality.<sup>17</sup> Soil ecosystems are one of the largest reservoirs of biological diversity on Earth; they make up 60% of the Earth's biomass.<sup>18</sup>

In agro-ecosystems, zinc deficiency is the most geographically widespread micronutrient constraint limiting crop production. In western Canada, soil samples have shown that zinc is deficient in 30% of those taken in Alberta, 66% in Saskatchewan and 61% in Manitoba.<sup>19</sup> Zinc is a critical nutrient because it is essential for plant growth.<sup>20</sup> It plays a key role in DNA replication and regulation of gene expression and is vital for germination, chlorophyll production, pollen function, fertilization<sup>21</sup>, and biomass production.<sup>22</sup>

Soil becomes zinc deficient when crop removal exceeds zinc availability and fertilization. Zinc may not be available for plant uptake due to soil characteristics such as high soil pH or low organic matter content. Zinc is also immobile in the soil, meaning it cannot travel to plant roots to be taken up unless it is dissolved and moves with the groundwater.



"Maintenance of soil health is central to agricultural sustainability and a key factor that reflects the productivity of agro-ecosystems"<sup>23</sup>

### **Soil Microbiomes**

Ecosystems rely on biogeochemical cycles. The soil itself is a complex and multifunctional domain that supports many processes, such as the cycling of major nutrients (i.e., carbon and nitrogen), and the decomposition of organic matter. Microbes are the most important contributors to soil processes. The collection of microorganisms that live in the soil is immense. Soil microbiomes are home to primary producers in an ecosystem, and they are determinants of successful environments (i.e., plant health) as they assist in the acquisition of nutrients.

Living soil communities are made up of bacteria, fungi, algae, protozoa, and nematodes. In their complex world, some of these microbes are predatory, some break down nutrients, some act as antibiotics for plants, and some facilitate nutrient uptake in roots.

The soil biota that makes our environments livable has been greatly affected by anthropogenic processes. "It is well established that agricultural practices alter the composition and diversity of soil microbial communities."<sup>24</sup> Soil degradation exists in every inhabited region of the world. As the world's soils lose their nutrients, the soil biota dies, and these ecosystems become less productive. Because of this, many agricultural crops do not contain the nutrient densities they once did. From humans to microbes, nutrients are essential for the proper function of all living things.

Management strategies that increase soil biodiversity are important for soil health, plant health and vital to restoring these ecosystems back into rich and fertile farmland. Scientists have found that increasing the microbial biomass of soil increased aboveground plant productivity by 35%.<sup>25 26</sup>

### Soil Organic Carbon

Soil organic carbon is integral to increasing biodiversity belowground. Soil management strategies determine if carbon stays in the soil (is sequestered) or is released into the atmosphere. Increasing and sequestered carbon creates rich soil that improves crop yields. Organic carbon is an important source of energy for microbial activity which, in turn, creates fertile soil.

Researchers have found that soil microbes are responsible for 82% of the variation in soil carbon cycling.<sup>27</sup> Carbon cycling is just one ecosystem service that is provided by microbes in natural and cultivated environments. Plants use microbes to exchange their carbon for nutrients that are otherwise inaccessible to them (more on this later). As plants depend on microbes for nutrients, soil microorganisms are limited by the availability of carbon that is transferred to them by plants.<sup>28</sup> In this way, the abundance of microbes can determine the health of the soil and the potential of soils to sequester carbon.<sup>29</sup> Soil carbon plays an indispensable part in enhancing agricultural productivity.

Current global estimates suggest that soil contains greater than 4 x 10<sup>30</sup> microbial cells.<sup>25</sup>

### **Micronutrient Absorption in Plants**

Plant absorption of micronutrients depends on physical, biological, and chemical conditions of the soil such as pH, organic matter, microbial activity, oxidization, and pre-existing minerals.<sup>30</sup> Micronutrients become available to plants through complex chemical and biological processes in the soil.

Research is evolving to develop a more complete understanding of the interactions between plants and microbes in the soil, and how this determines the availability of nutrients,<sup>31 32</sup> as well as, how plants may become tolerant to stresses such as drought, salinity, and heavy metals.<sup>33</sup>

Plants have developed mechanisms and symbiotic relationships with soil microbes to facilitate the nutrient acquisition. Microorganisms such as bacteria move in response to chemicals in the environment; this is known as a Chemotactic response. Capitalizing on this response, plants release certain chemicals known as root exudates (i.e., amino acids, carbohydrates, organic acids, and flavonoids) to influence microbial movement.<sup>34</sup> The root exudates provide energy in the form of carbon for the microbes, and the microbes increase nutrient availability for the plants. In this way, soil communities are influenced by the conditions imposed by plants<sup>35</sup> and microbes are indicators of nutrient availability within the soil.

The symbiotic relationship between plants and microbes occurs in a unique micro-ecosystem directly around plant roots known as the rhizosphere. These plant-microbe interactions and impact on nutrient availability, demonstrate the importance of fostering healthy, living soils.

In agricultural ecosystems, crops are harvested and removed from the ecosystem preventing nutrients from cycling back into the soil. Over time this leads to nutrient-deficient soils that need to be amended/fertilized to ensure continued land productivity. Supplementary nutrients are added to the system through either soil or foliar applications in ionic and chelated forms. Proper soil nutrient management is vital to producing high yields of nutritious foods year after year.

### How Sulphate and EDTA Based Fertilizers Work

Oxy-sulphate, sulphate and EDTA (ethylene diamine tetraacetate) based agricultural fertilizers have been around since the 1930s. The use of these micronutrient forms is common in agricultural systems to alleviate micronutrient deficiencies.<sup>36</sup>

Oxy-sulphate fertilizers are inorganic, and even though they are more cost-effective than chelates such as EDTA, they have a low water solubility (especially in alkaline soils) and have a fine threshold between under- and over-application.<sup>37</sup>

Sulphate fertilizers are commonly used in oilseed crops and forage crops. However, once in the soil, they are very prone to leaching in wet and sandy soils.<sup>38</sup> Sulphate-based fertilizers may increase soil salinization over time which can stress soil microbes.

#### Chelates: What do they do?

A chelate ("key-late") grabs or binds inorganic ions or micronutrients (such as zinc) through multiple bonds usually with organic molecules (carbon containing compounds).

Chelation can improve nutrient availability by preventing conversion into insoluble solids in the soil, allowing the plant to uptake the delivered nutrient.

### The Problems with Current Fertilizer Solutions

- Ineffective in high pH
- Harmful salts destroy life in soils
- Prone to leaching
- Fine threshold for over-application and toxicity

Synthetic EDTA-based fertilizers allow nutrients to be absorbed by plants; however, the synthetic components are released back into the soil. EDTA is a chelating agent that is water-soluble and can easily pick up heavy metals in the soil, thus enabling metals to enter and pollute water bodies. Unsustainable EDTA-based fertilizers amplify the modification of the Earth's biogeochemical cycles through mechanisms such as soil degradation, waterway eutrophication, and greenhouse gas emissions.<sup>39 40 41</sup>

Current micronutrient fertilizers that are sulphate, oxy-sulphate, and EDTA-based are expensive relative to their benefits, hard to use, ineffective in alkaline soil, and can leach and contaminate agro-ecosystems.

### **The Soileos Solution**

Soileos is a suite of climate positive, innovative fertilizers that solve the micronutrient delivery problems of today while improving the land for tomorrow. Soileos is a soil applied, smart crop nutrition delivery system. It helps farmers reach their yield potential and increase their soil health. Soileos' on-time nutrient delivery and sustained bioavailability allow the crop to maximize its genetic potential. without polluting agro-ecosystems by resisting tie-up and leaching.

Soileos is made from repurposed cellulose derived from crop processing, such as pea or lentil hulls or rice husks. This natural fibre promotes nutrient cycling in the soil. It is the microbial decomposition of Soileos that releases nutrients for crop use. Unlike conventional products, Soileos's organic substrate improves microbial biomass in the soil and enhances soil organic carbon levels. This natural nutrient delivery mechanism results in healthy agricultural systems where farmers have higher crop yields with improved nutrient density, and healthier soils.



### **Soileos Mode of Action**

Soileos is the fertilizer of the future. Patented technology binds micronutrients to cellulose and uses the soil's natural biological activity to release nutrients to the crops as required. When Soileos is applied and incorporated into the soil, the cellulose-bound nutrients are effectively delivered to the plants in an sustainable method. Nutrients delivered from Soileos to the crop lean on the symbiotic relationship of microbes and plants; micronutrients are slowly released from the cellulose of Soileos through microbial mineralization. This is why we call Soileos Bio-Active.

Lucent Bio, in collaboration with Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), completed research trials in 2020 to declare the mode of action of Soileos and it's interaction with the soil microbiome with a focus on microbial activity.

When soils are fertilized with Soileos, the naturally present microbes begin to consume the organic carbon from the cellulose increasing their microbial biomass carbon. In this process, they also consume cellulose-bound micronutrients such as zinc. In studies conducted at AAFC, the microbial biomass increased more than 20% when using Soileos compared to the control (Figure 1).

Once the easily degraded carbon is consumed, the microbial population declines, and the micronutrients are released back into the soil in a bioavailable form for crop uptake. Unlike synthetic fertilizers, Soileos is an organic fertilizer that fortifies the soil with natural carbon. Soil life in organic systems such as this can be over 80% more active than in conventional systems.<sup>42</sup>

The rate of microbial activity is dependent on conditions such as temperature, moisture, and pH. Warm, moist conditions facilitate a more active microbiome, whereas cool, dry conditions result in a less active microbiome. This means that the micronutrients from Soileos are not released from the cellulose until conditions are met that promote microbial activity. This allows nutrients delivered from Soileos to become available for plant uptake when the plants need them throughout the growing season.

#### FIGURE 1.

The interaction between Soileos and soil microbial community through assessment of microbial biomass carbon (MBC)



#### FIGURE 2.

Zinc absorption curves from soil treated with Soileos or zinc chloride



#### Watch our Mode of Action Explainer video



Nutrients stay

exactly where

you need them.

Soileos is environmentally safe because the micronutrients are not subject to leaching in their cellulose-bound state. Zinc adsorption curves demonstrate that soil treated with Soileos Zinc resulted in minimal zinc leaching from the soil, even at high adsorbed zinc concentrations (Figure 2). In contrast, the concentration of zinc that leached from the soil treated with zinc chloride was significantly higher than that of Soileos Zinc and steadily increased with the amount of zinc adsorbed to the soil.

These curves demonstrate that Soileos micronutrients have a lower risk of leaching out of the soil profile, thereby mitigating the environmental pollution that is typically associated with the use of other fertilizers.

### The Benefits of Soileos

The benefits of Soileos are numerous: Soileos provides a climate-smart solution for micronutrient management in modern farming practices with increased crop safety in comparison to sulphate-based fertilizers. Research has demonstrated that the use of Soileos results in higher crop yields by contributing to balanced crop nutrition. In a study conducted by AAFC, cabbage fresh weight increased significantly with the increasing application rate of Soileos (Figure 3). In comparison, zinc chloride and zinc sulphate resulted in lower cabbage fresh weight with an increasing application rate. This highlights the risk of over-application of standard fertilizers which results in crop toxicities and yield reductions. However, Soileos had no associated phytotoxicity, even when applied at 10 times the recommended rate.

Lucent Bio has conducted numerous field trials on corn, wheat, canola, soybeans, tomato, and lettuce, to name a few, resulting in higher yields when crops were fertilized with Soileos (Table 1).



#### Science Driven. Field Proven. Bio-Activated.

#### TABLE 1.

3 Years of Field Trial Results

CROP	AVERAGE YIELD INCREASE
Soybeans	10%
Canola	8%
Wheat	10%
Corn	12%

Agronomic biofortification is the deliberate use of fertilizers, like Soileos, to increase the nutritional content of crops; for instance, increasing the zinc concentration in grains to help address zinc deficiencies in the human diet.<sup>43</sup> However, zinc fertilizer recovery in agricultural soils is low (<1%), and over-application of zinc chelates often result in residual accumulation in the soil and subsequent leaching to the environment.<sup>44</sup> Soileos offers an alternative, bioactive zinc source and an efficient fertilization strategy to address zinc deficiency in crops and related health problems.

Fertilization with Soileos results in better plant uptake of zinc compared to standard zinc chloride and zinc sulphate fertilizers (Figure 4) and has resulted in higher zinc tissue concentrations of globally significant crops such as corn and wheat. In this regard, Soileos creates more nutritional food.

Innovation at Lucent Bio focuses on how we can better use resources and how we can create an avenue for the agri-food community to enhance environmental stewardship, improve resource management, and become leaders in sustainable agriculture. Soileos goes beyond net-zero. It is a climate-positive option for farmers who don't want to relinquish profitability for sustainability. Farmers who grow with Soileos have an environmentally safe bottom line.

#### FIGURE 3.

Cabbage fresh weight in response to increasing zinc application rates using Soileos, zinc chloride, and zinc sulfate in a potted greenhouse experiment



#### FIGURE 4.

Zinc uptake in cabbage in response to increasing zinc application rates using Soileos, zinc chloride, and zinc sulfate in a potted greenhouse experiment



### Summary

Lucent Bio is reinventing crop nutrition. Soileos is a suite of innovative fertilizers that solve the micronutrient delivery problems of today while improving the land for tomorrow. Using upcycled natural replacements for synthetic chelates allows our technology to contribute to the circular economy and deliver more sustainable food production. Soileos micronutrients are bioavailable to agricultural ecosystems thus enabling greater nutrient uptake and increased yields. Soileos supports life on land and safeguards soil to address global food security. A management strategy that includes Soileos is easy to implement, environmentally friendly, and healthy.

#### Higher yields and healthier soil for the ultimate return.

Compared to the classic sulphate and EDTA based fertilizer, Soileos offer some major benefits:

	SOILEOS	CHELATES	SULPHATES
Works in alkaline soils up to pH 10	+	_	
Easy to use	++	+	+/-
Increases crop yields	++	+	+/-
Increase nutrient density in crops	++	+/-	+/-
Bioavailable throughout plant life cycle	++	+/-	_
Improves phosphorus uptake efficiency	+	+	+
Sulphate, EDTA free	++		
Activates microbiome	++	_	
No phototoxicity	++	+/-	—
No leaching	++		
Climate-positive	+		-
Cost per acre	+		+

### References

- <sup>1</sup> Bender, S. F., Wagg, C., & van der Heijden, M. G. A. (2016). An Underground Revolution: Biodiversity and Soil Ecological Engineering for Agricultural Sustainability. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 31(6), 440–452. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2016.02.016
- <sup>2</sup> Thijs, S., Sillen, W., Rineau, F., Weyens, N., & Vangronsveld, J. (2016). Towards an enhanced understanding of PLANT–MICROBIOME interactions to Improve Phytoremediation: Engineering THE METAORGANISM. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.00341
- <sup>3</sup> Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., &; Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in Plant MINERAL Nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01617
- <sup>4</sup> Paungfoo-Lonhienne, C., Rentsch, D., Robatzek, S., Webb, R. I., Sagulenko, E., Näsholm, T., ... Lonhienne, T. G. (2010). Turning the table: Plants consume microbes as a source of nutrients. PLoS ONE, 5(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011915
- <sup>5</sup> Verbon, E. H., &; Liberman, L. M. (2016). Beneficial microbes affect endogenous mechanisms controlling root development. *Trends in Plant Science*, 21(3), 218-229. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2016.01.013
- <sup>6</sup> Mendes, R., Garbeva, P., &; Raaijmakers, J. M. (2013). The rhizosphere microbiome: Significance of plant beneficial, plant pathogenic, and human pathogenic microorganisms. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 37(5), 634-663. doi:10.1111/1574-6976.12028
- <sup>7</sup> Berendsen, R. L., Pieterse, C. M. J., & Bakker, P. A. H. M. (2012). The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. *Trends in Plant Science*, 17(8), 478–486. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2012.04.001
- <sup>8</sup> Van der Heijden, M. G., Bardgett, R. D., &; Van Straalen, N. M. (2008). The unseen majority: Soil microbes as drivers of plant diversity and productivity in terrestrial ecosystems. Ecology Letters, 11(3), 296-310. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01139.x
- <sup>9</sup> Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., &; Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in Plant MINERAL Nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01617
- <sup>10</sup> World Health Organization (WHO), Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), International Atomic Energy Association (IAEA), 2002. 2nd ed. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- <sup>11</sup> Stein, A. J. (2009). Global impacts of human mineral malnutrition. *Plant and Soil*, 335(1-2), 133-154. doi:10.1007/s11104-009-0228-2
- <sup>12</sup> Cakmak, I. (2007). Enrichment of cereal grains with zinc: Agronomic or genetic biofortification? *Plant and Soil*, 302(1-2), 1-17. doi:10.1007/s11104-007-9466-3
- <sup>13</sup> Health Canada. (2012). Do Canadian Adults Meet Their Nutrient ... Retrieved March 19, 2021, from <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/migration/hc-sc/fn-an/alt\_formats/</u> <u>pdf/surveill/nutrition/commun/art-nutr-adult-eng.pdf</u>
- <sup>14</sup> Abhilash, P. C., Dubey, R. K., Tripathi, V., Srivastava, P., Verma, J. P., & Singh, H. B. (2013). Remediation and management of POPs-contaminated soils in a warming climate: challenges and perspectives. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 20(8), 5879–5885. doi:10.1007/s11356-013-1808-5
- <sup>15</sup> Tripathi, V., Fraceto, L. F., & Abhilash, P. C. (2015). Sustainable clean-up technologies for soils contaminated with multiple pollutants: Plant-microbe-pollutant and climate nexus. Ecological Engineering, 82, 330–335. doi:10.1016/j.ecoleng.2015.05.027
- <sup>16</sup> Bojko, O., & Kabala, C. (2017). Organic carbon pools in mountain soils Sources of variability and predicted changes in relation to climate and land-use changes. CATENA, 149, 209–220. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2016.09.022

- <sup>17</sup> Köberl, M., Wagner, P., Müller, H., Matzer, R., Unterfrauner, H., Cernava, T., &; Berg, G. (2020). Unraveling the complexity of Soil microbiomes in a large-scale Study subjected to different agricultural management in Styria. Frontiers in Microbiology, 11. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2020.01052
- <sup>18</sup> Dubey, A., Malla, M. A., Khan, F., Chowdhary, K., Yadav, S., Kumar, A., . . . Khan, M. L. (2019). Soil microbiome: A key player for conservation of soil health under changing climate. Biodiversity and Conservation, 28(8-9), 2405-2429. doi:10.1007/s10531-019-01760-5
- <sup>19</sup> Murrell, T. Scott & Williams, Ryan & Fixen, Paul & Bruulsema, Tom & williams, elle. (2016). 2015 North American Soil Test Summary.
- <sup>20</sup> Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants. (2021). ELSEVIER ACADEMIC Press.
- <sup>21</sup> Pandey, N., Pathak, G. C., & Sharma, C. P. (2006). Zinc is critically required for pollen function and fertilisation in lentil. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 20(2), 89-96. doi:10.1016/j.jtemb.2005.09.006
- <sup>22</sup> Kaya, C., & Higgs, D. (2002). Response of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum l.*) cultivars to foliar application of zinc when grown in sand culture at low zinc. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 93(1), 53-64. doi:10.1016/s0304-4238(01)00310-7
- <sup>23</sup> Dubey, A., Malla, M. A., Khan, F., Chowdhary, K., Yadav, S., Kumar, A., . . . Khan, M. L. (2019).
  Soil microbiome: A key player for conservation of soil health under changing climate.
  Biodiversity and Conservation, 28(8-9), 2405-2429. doi:10.1007/s10531-019-01760-5
- <sup>24</sup> Köhl, L., Oehl, F., & van der Heijden, M. G. A. (2014). Agricultural practices indirectly influence plant productivity and ecosystem services through effects on soil biota. Ecological Applications, 24(7), 1842–1853. doi:10.1890/13-1821.1
- <sup>25</sup> Sackett, T. E., Classen, A. T., &; Sanders, N. J. (2010). Linking soil food web structure to above- and belowground ecosystem processes: A meta-analysis. Oikos, 119(12), 1984-1992. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18728.x
- <sup>26</sup> Moyer, J., Smith, A., Rui, Y., Hayden, J. (2020). Regenerative agriculture and the soil carbon solution [white paper]. (<u>https://rodaleinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/</u><u>Rodale-Soil- Carbon-White-Paper\_v11-compressed.pdf</u>)
- <sup>27</sup> Canarini, A., Kaiser, C., Merchant, A., Richter, A., & Wanek, W. (2019). Corrigendum: Root EXUDATION of primary Metabolites: Mechanisms and their roles in Plant responses to environmental stimuli. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.00420
- <sup>28</sup> Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., &; Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in Plant MINERAL Nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01617
- <sup>29</sup> Bender, S. F., Wagg, C., & van der Heijden, M. G. A. (2016). An Underground Revolution: Biodiversity and Soil Ecological Engineering for Agricultural Sustainability. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 31(6), 440–452. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2016.02.016
- <sup>30</sup> Masunaga, T., & Marques Fong, J. D. (2018). Strategies for Increasing Micronutrient Availability in Soil for Plant Uptake. Plant Micronutrient Use Efficiency, 195–208. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12- 812104-7.00013-7
- <sup>31</sup> Paungfoo-Lonhienne, C., Rentsch, D., Robatzek, S., Webb, R. I., Sagulenko, E., Näsholm, T., . . . Lonhienne, T. G. (2010). Turning the table: Plants consume microbes as a source of nutrients. *PLoS ONE*, 5(7).
- <sup>32</sup> Bulgarelli, D., Schlaeppi, K., Spaepen, S., van Themaat, E. V. L., & Schulze-Lefert, P. (2013). Structure and Functions of the Bacterial Microbiota of Plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 64(1), 807–838. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120106
- <sup>33</sup> De Zelicourt, A., Al-Yousif, M., & Hirt, H. (2013). Rhizosphere Microbes as Essential Partners for Plant Stress Tolerance. Molecular Plant, 6(2), 242–245. doi:10.1093/mp/sst028

- <sup>34</sup> Prakash, V., Khan, M. Y., Rai, P., Prasad, R., Tripathi, D. K., & Sharma, S. (2020). Exploring plant rhizobacteria synergy to mitigate abiotic stress: a new dimension toward sustainable agriculture. Plant Life Under Changing Environment, 861–882. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-818204- 8.00040-0
- <sup>35</sup> Bell, C. W., Asao, S., Calderon, F., Wolk, B., & Wallenstein, M. D. (2015). Plant nitrogen uptake drives rhizosphere bacterial community assembly during plant growth. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 85, 170–182. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.03.006
- <sup>36</sup> Masunaga, T., & Marques Fong, J. D. (2018). Strategies for Increasing Micronutrient Availability in Soil for Plant Uptake. Plant Micronutrient Use Efficiency, 195–208. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12- 812104-7.00013-7
- <sup>37</sup> Team, A. (2018, April 18). Do you understand the different forms of micronutrients? Retrieved March 19, 2021, from https://andersonscanada.com/2018/04/18/do-youunderstand-the- different-forms-of-micronutrients/
- <sup>38</sup> McKenzie, R. H., PH.D., P. Ag. (2013, February). Sulphur Fertilizer Application in Crop Production [PDF]. Department of Agriculture Alberta.
- <sup>39</sup> Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., &; Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in Plant Mineral Nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01617
- <sup>40</sup> Amundson, R., Berhe, A. A., Hopmans, J. W., Olson, C., Sztein, A. E., &; Sparks, D. L. (2015). Soil and human security in the 21st century. Science, 348(6235), 1261071-1261071. doi:10.1126/ science.1261071
- <sup>41</sup> Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockstrom, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., . . . Sorlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. Science, 347(6223), 1259855-1259855. doi:10.1126/science.1259855
- <sup>42</sup> Lori, M.; Symnaczik, S.; Mäder, P.; Deyn, G.D.; Gattinger, A. Organic farming enhances soil microbial abundance and activity—A meta analysis and meta-regression. PLOS ONE 2017, 12, e0180442, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0180442.
- <sup>43</sup> Holtz, C., & Brown, K. H. (2004). Correction to VOL. 25, No. 1 (supplement 2): International Zinc Nutrition Consultative Group (IZINCG) technical document#1. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 25(2), 94-204. doi:10.1177/156482650402500220
- <sup>44</sup> White, P., & Broadley, M. (2005). Biofortifying crops with essential mineral elements.
  *Trends in Plant Science*, 10(12), 586-593. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2005.10.001

All photographs except page 4: ©Lucent Bio, Page 4: Shutterstock